IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III

---

C/A No. 15-CP-46-1827

Appellate Case No. 2016-001558

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 17 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Willie Bell, individually and on behalf of the Estate of  
Emma M. Davis as its duly appointed Personal Representative,

Appellant,

v.

McGowan, Hood, and Felder, LLC and Chad McGowan,

Respondents.

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILLIE BELL

---

A. Camden Lewis, SC Bar 3298  
J. Ryan Heiskell, SC Bar 76960  
Ariail E. King, SC Bar 8952  
LEWIS BABCOCK L.L.P.  
Post Office Box 11208  
1513 Hampton Street (29201)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was initiated by the Appellant Willie Bell's filing of a Complaint against attorney Chad McGowan and his law firm, McGowan, Hood, and Felder, LLC, on September 11, 2014. R.p. 3. In his Complaint, Appellant asserted claims for malpractice, fraudulent misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and unfair trade practices in Respondents' handling of a medical malpractice/wrongful death action that arose from the death of Appellant Willie Bell's mother Emma Davis. R.p. 46-63. Following extensive discovery, the matter was ready for trial, which took place before a jury on July 18-20, 2016. R.p. 273, 587. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III presided.

After Appellant Willie Bell presented his case, Respondents moved for a directed verdict. R.p. 590: 15-20. The lower court denied the directed verdict with regard to the legal malpractice case. R.p. 1. However, the lower court found that Appellant Willie Bell had the burden of proving that a non-adjudicated putative common law spouse was not actually a common-law spouse. The lower court further held that Appellant had failed to meet this burden. *Id.* The lower court granted Respondents' motion for directed verdict as to the unfair trade practices claim. (*Id.*). Finally, the lower court declined to impose disgorgement of attorney's fees due to conflicts of interest. (*Id.*). Appellant Willie Bell then timely appealed. Respondents cross-appealed on August 19, 2016.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### INTRODUCTION

This case involves claims against an attorney, Chad McGowan, and his law firm (collectively “Respondents”) for malpractice, fraudulent misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and unfair trade practices in their handling of a medical malpractice/wrongful death action that arose from the death of Appellant Willie Bell’s mother Emma Davis. Respondents had irreconcilable conflicts of interest in their concurrent representation of the Estate of Emma Davis and other clients; they turned a blind eye to the true facts; and they ignored the law, in their self-centered pursuit of a large attorney’s fee, all to the detriment of Appellant Willie Bell—the sole legal heir to Emma Davis.

Appellant Willie Bell is Ms. Davis’s adopted son<sup>1</sup> and the only legal heir to Ms. Davis, who died intestate. Appellant Willie Bell was not informed of the medical malpractice action brought on behalf of his mother’s. Instead, from the inception of suit against Ms. Davis’s doctors, Respondents acted in concert with the Estate’s Personal Representative and the decedent’s boyfriend to deny Appellant Willie Bell the settlement proceeds from the underlying medical malpractice suit, and to obtain large sums of money for themselves, the Personal Representative, Ms. Davis’s boyfriend, and others. As a result, Appellant Willie Bell has been cheated out of hundreds of thousands of dollars to which he was legally entitled.

In addition to representing the Estate of Emma Davis, Respondents also represented Andrews Strong (hereinafter “Strong”), a non-adjudicated putative common-law spouse, and Tanisha Gilmore the Personal Representative of Emma Davis’s Estate. Respondents also arranged

---

<sup>1</sup> The adoption decree shows that Appellant Willie Bell was adopted in 1985. R.p. 617.

for one of Respondents' family members to lend money to Strong during the medical malpractice litigation, the repayment of which was tied to the eventual proceeds of the lawsuit. These conflicting interests limited Respondents' motivation to find the proper beneficiary of the Estate of Emma Davis, Appellant Willie Bell.

### FACTS

Emma M. Davis died on February 11, 2010, from complications that occurred while undergoing a medical procedure for a pacemaker at the Piedmont Medical Center in Rock Hill, South Carolina. R.p. 622, 634. At the time of her death, Ms. Davis was not married and had one adopted son, Appellant Willie Bell. *Id.* Ms. Davis died intestate and thus, her estate should have passed to her adopted son, Appellant Willie Bell, pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-2-103, which governs intestate distribution, stating that if there is no surviving spouse, the estate passes to “the issue of the decedent.”

Shortly after her death, one of Ms. Davis's relatives received an anonymous call from a man who allegedly worked at Piedmont Medical Center, who stated that Piedmont Medical had done something wrong in the operating room, causing Ms. Davis's death. R.p. 367:19 – 368:2, R.p. 728. Thereafter, some of Ms. Davis's relatives contacted Respondents and a meeting was arranged for a few days later to discuss the potential case. R.p. 401:23 – 402:1, R.p. 728. Although Ms. Davis's relatives knew where Appellant Willie Bell lived and how to contact him, Appellant Willie Bell was not asked to go the meeting. R.p. 368:10-17.

### Initial Consultation & Existence of Willie Bell

According to Respondents' notes from that initial meeting, two of Ms. Davis's sisters, three of Ms. Davis's nieces, and two sisters of Andrew Strong (Ms. Davis's boyfriend at the time of her death), attended the initial consultation.<sup>2</sup> R.p. 711. During the meeting, at least one attendee raised the issue of Ms. Davis having an adopted son, which is reflected in Respondents' Client Questionnaire where Respondents wrote the following:

survived by Willie Bell (maybe) - son -

R.p. 709. In the typed Memo to File summarizing the initial meeting, Respondents wrote the name "Willie Bell" and referred to him as the "surviving son":

There is a surviving son, Willie Bell who may or may not have been formally adopted.

R.p. 728.

Additionally, Appellant Willie Bell was listed as Ms. Davis's son in her Obituary (R.p. 623) and on her Death Certificate (R.p. 622), both of which Respondents had in their possession in order to bring the lawsuit for wrongful death. The Death Certificate reflected the following:

---

<sup>2</sup> At the end of the medical malpractice case, Respondents wrote checks to those who attended the initial meeting in the following manner: two of Ms. Davis's sisters received \$5,000 each; two of Mr. Strong's sisters received \$5,000 each (and 1 sister who did not attend received \$5,000). One niece of Ms. Davis received \$100,000 and the other -- Tanisha Gilmore, the PR -- received \$200,000. R.p. 748.

13a. INFORMANT'S NAME Willie Bell	13b. RELATIONSHIP TO DECEDENT Son	13c. MA 203 Che
14. PLACE OF DEATH (Check only one: see instructions)		
IF DEATH OCCURRED IN A HOSPITAL	IF DEATH OCCURRED SOMEWHERE ELSE	

R.p. 622. The obituary clearly identified Appellant Willie Bell as Emma Davis's son, and Strong merely as her companion:

Survivors include a son, Willie Bell and his wife, Claudene, of Chester; her companion, Andrew Strong of the home; two brothers, Monroe Davis Jr. of Chester and Michael Young and his wife, Ina

R.p. 623. Respondents knew where Appellant Willie Bell lived and had his home address. R.p. 410:15-17.<sup>3</sup>

Despite the numerous references to Appellant Willie Bell's existence, and the family's familiarity with his location, and status, Respondents made no attempt to call Appellant Willie Bell, even while knowing that he could be the one true beneficiary of the Estate of Emma Davis if Appellant Willie Bell had in fact been formally adopted.<sup>4</sup> R.p. 406:7-9. Respondents decided that

<sup>3</sup> After the medical malpractice case was settled, Ms. Gilmore contacted Appellant Willie Bell and told him not to believe what he read in the newspaper about the settlement and told him he would receive \$100,000 from the settlement. R.p. 370:5 - 371:5. Appellant Willie Bell later received a check for that amount from Respondents.

<sup>4</sup> In fact, Chad McGowan would not ever mention the name "Willie Bell" again throughout the medical malpractice litigation until after the case had been settled, notably leaving his name off of all discovery responses and court filings. R.p. 410:15 - 411:11. Appellant Willie Bell was never interviewed or deposed during the medical malpractice case. . When it became apparent that Willie Bell was indeed a fact witness in the medical malpractice case and would have to be deposed, the case was quickly settled before the true facts came to light.

Appellant Willie Bell had not been adopted, rather than contacting Appellant Willie Bell directly or performing any other investigation. R.p. 402:8-24.<sup>5</sup>

### **Initial Consultation & Andrew Strong**

Also during the initial consultation with Respondents, in addition to discussing Appellant Willie Bell, the attendees also discussed Andrew Strong, who Respondents referred to in their Questionnaire as being the “potential common (law) husband.” R.p. 709. Notably, Strong was not listed as Ms. Davis’s common law spouse in her Obituary, and instead was merely labeled a “companion.” R.p. 623. Similarly, he was not mentioned on her Death Certificate and was only referenced in the medical records as Ms. Davis’s “friend.” R.p. 623, 706.

Importantly, Strong was never adjudicated to be Ms. Davis’s common law spouse by the Probate or Family Court as required by South Carolina Code Section 62-2-802 to claim this legal status.<sup>6</sup> R.p. 449:6-23. In particular, Section 62-2-802(b)(4) states that a “surviving spouse” does not include:

[A]n individual claiming to be a common law spouse who has not been established to be a common law spouse by an adjudication commenced before the death of the decedent or within the later of eight months after the death of the decedent or six months after the initial appointment of a personal representative; if the action is

---

<sup>5</sup> After the medical malpractice case was resolved, Appellant Willie Bell received a \$100,000 check from Respondents. At the very least, at the time of this payment, Respondents were on notice that Willie Bell was a beneficiary.

<sup>6</sup> In his deposition in the medical malpractice case, Strong testified that he had been adjudicated a common-law spouse. R.p. 694:11-21. Even though Chad McGowan was present and knew the statement was false, he took no action to correct the misstatement or convey the falsity of the misstatement to the doctor/hospital lawyers. R.p. 445:10 – 448:24. Rule 3.3(a)(3) of the Rules of Professional Conduct states that if a “lawyer’s client...has offered material evidence and the lawyer comes to know of its falsity, the lawyer shall take reasonable remedial measures, including, if necessary, disclosure to the tribunal,” which includes a deposition. *Id.*; Rule 1.5(c), Rules of Professional Conduct.

commenced after the death of the decedent, proof must be by clear and convincing evidence.

S.C. Code § 62-2-802(b)(4). In the medical malpractice case, Strong testified that that Ms. Davis never used his name and they had no paperwork evidencing a common law marriage. R.p. 666:16 – 667:4. In the face of these facts, however, Respondents took it upon themselves to declare Strong to be Ms. Davis’s common law husband.

### **Retention Agreement**

Respondents entered into a formal retainer agreement for representation for the Estate of Emma Davis, the first sentence of this contract specifically states that Respondents’ client was to be “the Estate of Mrs. Davis,” and was signed by Tanisha Gilmore (“Gilmore”), a niece of Emma Davis. R.p. 633. During trial, Respondent argued that this phrase means nothing because an estate is not a legal entity. However, the lower court ruled that an estate is a separate “legal entity.” R.p. 425:6-9; 423:13-15. *Dickey v. Clarke Nursing Home*, No. 2007-UP-098, 2007 WL 8325995, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 23, 2007) (an estate “is a separate legal entity from the individual named as PR[.]”), citing *Brown v. Coe*, 365 S.C. 137, 142, 616 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2005). Furthermore, as Respondents have acknowledged, the heirs are the beneficial owners of an estate. R.p. 438:18-20. Of course, as Ms. Davis’s only surviving son, Appellant Willie Bell is the sole heir and beneficiary of the Estate of Emma Davis.

### **Respondents’ Concurrent Representation of Andrew Strong**

Respondents agreed to represent Strong concurrent with their representation of the Estate and PR despite entering into a formal fee agreement with only the Estate, and despite the fact that Strong’s interest in the proceeds of the medical malpractice lawsuit directly conflicted with the Estate’s interest.

Following the initial consultation, Respondents eventually filed a complaint for wrongful death, survival, and loss of consortium, asserting that Strong was the surviving common law spouse of Ms. Davis and the sole heir and beneficiary of the Estate. Later, Respondents also filed a Petition for Approval of Settlement with the Circuit Court under the same guise. R.p. 639, 739, 744. Of course, since there had been no adjudication by any court that Strong was a common-law spouse, and Strong was described by Ms. Davis as a “friend,” he was not an intestate heir, a statutory wrongful death beneficiary, or a spouse for the purposes of loss of consortium.

Despite the fact that Strong was not a beneficiary to the Estate of Ms. Davis and that his interests directly conflicted with those of the sole legal beneficiary of the Estate, Respondents took no measures to inform the Probate Court or their other clients, the Estate and the PR, of the same. Rather, Chad McGowan continued to litigate the lawsuit brought on Strong's behalf, even though Strong's interests directly conflicted with those of the Estate and PR.

#### **Estate Prematurely Closed in Probate Court**

Without any action by the Respondents, the Probate Court discharged Gilmore as Personal Representative during the course of the medical malpractice litigation and closed the Estate of Emma Davis on February 21, 2011:

**This is to certify that  
the personal representative(s)  
in the above estate  
appear(s) to have completed the administration, and this  
Court has closed this estate  
by order dated FEB. 21, 2011**

R.p. 751. The Estate was closed even though Respondents had not taken any of required steps to make a determination as to the legitimate heirs of the Estate. Later, after the medical

malpractice/wrongful death case was settled, Respondents represented in the Petition for Approval of Settlement that Tanisha Gilmore was “the duly appointed personal representative” even though the Estate had been closed and the PR discharged. R.p. 739.

### **Respondents Arrange Private Loans for Strong**

During the medical malpractice litigation, Respondents also arranged for private loans totaling \$15,500 to be made to Strong by Mr. McGowan’s own father-in-law, Mr. Maloney. R.p. 517:3-11, R.p. 749. Respondents drafted the loan documents in which Strong borrowed \$15,500 from Mr. Maloney. R.p. 752. Under the terms of the loan from Mr. McGowan’s father-in-law, Strong was required to pay 100% interest on the loan. R.p. 517:15-24. These loans were secured and guaranteed against the expected proceeds of the claims against the hospital and made pursuant to Respondents’ assurances that he would obtain a favorable outcome of the case. In other words, repayment to Respondents’ father-in-law hinged upon a successful outcome of the case.

At this stage of the litigation, Respondents were now representing the competing interests of Strong, the Estate, the PR, and Mr. Maloney. Despite the existence of directly conflicting interests of multiple clients, which should have required a withdrawal from being counsel, Respondents now added an additional layer of conflict because they now had a personal interest to ensure loan repayment to Mr. Maloney by continuing to represent Strong.

### **Settlement of Wrongful Death / Loss of Consortium Action & Distribution**

Ultimately, Respondents obtained a settlement for the wrongful death/loss of consortium case in the amount of Two Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$2,200,000.00).<sup>7</sup> R.p. 739,

---

<sup>7</sup> As noted previously, if Strong is not a common-law husband, he should not get the proceeds from either a wrongful death or loss of consortium claim. However, Strong received half of the

744. Respondents filed a Joint Petition for Approval of Settlement in the Court of Common Pleas in York County asserting that Gilmore "is the duly appointed personal representative" even though the Estate had been dismissed and Gilmore discharged. *Id.* In the same Joint Petition, Respondents also asserted that Strong was the "sole heir and beneficiary of the Estate of Emma Davis," even though no determination of heirs had been made by the Probate Court. *Id.* That determination was made illegally and *solely* by Respondents.

Following the wrongful death settlement hearing, Respondents distributed to Strong, the improper heir, the sum of Eight Hundred Thirty Three Thousand Three Hundred Twenty Seven Dollars and Ninety-Seven Cents (\$833,327.97); Respondents distributed to the former PR Gilmore Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$200,000.00), even though she had only been awarded a Twenty Five Thousand Dollar (\$25,000.00) fee by the Probate Court and was not an heir of the Estate.<sup>8</sup> R.p. 749, 750. Respondents received Nine Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$920,000.00) in attorneys' fees and One Hundred Six Thousand One Hundred Seventy Two Dollars and Three Cents (\$106,172.03) in reimbursed costs. R.p. 749.

---

settlement amount allocated to wrongful death and all of the settlement amount allocated to loss of consortium, amounting to three-fourths of the entire settlement.

<sup>8</sup> Respondents also wrote checks to both Strong's sisters and Davis's sisters, who had attended the initial consultation with Respondents. R.p. 748, R.p. 514:7-16. Of course, this was not Strong's money in the first place and should not have been distributed to other non-heirs. Respondents also wrote a check against Strong's recovery from the lawsuit to Mr. McGowan's father-in-law, who advanced money to Strong, as arranged by Respondents. R.p. 517:5-19.

### **Appellant Willie Bell Learns of Emma Davis Suite and Settlement**

Rather than ever being contacted by Respondents, Appellant Willie Bell, the son and sole true beneficiary of the Estate of Emma Davis, learned of the settlement from an article in the newspaper. R.p. 370:5 - 371:2.<sup>9</sup>

After learning that he had been deprived of his right to the settlement proceeds as the only son and beneficiary, and discovering that the Estate had been closed, Appellant Willie Bell sought to be appointed as subsequent successor personal representative of his mother's Estate. R.p. 632. Respondents attempted to block this appointment by filing a Petition to Restrain and Remove Successor Personal Representative. R.p. 1147. The Probate Court denied Respondents' Petition. *Id.* Upon proper appointment by the Probate Court, Appellant Willie Bell filed suit, both in his individual capacity and as successor personal representative, against Respondents in the Circuit Court for Richland County, alleging causes of action for legal malpractice, fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract with fraudulent intent, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. R.p. 3, 46.

At the jury trial in July 2016, Appellant Willie Bell presented his case. After the close of his case, Respondents sought a directed verdict as to all causes of action. R.p. 590:15-20. The lower court denied "Defendant's Motion for directed verdict on the legal malpractice case." R.p. 1. However, the lower court held that Appellant Willie Bell had "failed to prove that Strong was not a common law husband." This ruling improperly shifted the burden to Appellant Willie Bell, instead of correctly assigning the burden to Respondents to prove that Strong was a common law

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellant Willie Bell hired an attorney to obtain some of the monies to which he was entitled. That matter was settled for \$250,000.00 (and he had received \$100,000 from Respondents initially). R.p. 602:8-12.

spouse. *Id.*; R.p. 598:6 – 599:20. Based on this ruling, the Court granted the motion for directed verdict as to the unfair trade practices claim, finding it was premised on Strong’s status as a common-law spouse. R. p. 1; R.p. 599:9-12. Finally, the Court held that Respondents had not engaged in conflicts of interest that would require a disgorgement of attorney’s fees. R.p. 1; R.p. 611:19 – 612:1; R.p. 612:7-17z. This appeal then followed.

## ARGUMENT

I. **The lower court erred in ruling as a matter of law that formal adjudication of Andrew Strong as a common law spouse, under S.C. Code § 62-2-802 was not required in order for Strong to recover under the wrongful death statute and for a claim of loss of consortium.**

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