THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III

Case No. 15-CP-46-1827
Appellate Case No. 2016-001558

RECEIVED

JUL 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Willie Bell, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Emma M. Davis as its duly appointed
Personal Representative,..... Appellant,

v.

McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC and Chad McGowan,..... Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS McGOWAN, HOOD & FELDER, LLC AND CHAD
McGOWAN**

Steven G. Janik
Crystal L. Maluchnik
Lovie A. Brooks, III
Monica K. Bracey
JANIK L.L.P.
1000 William Hilton Parkway, Suite 103
Hilton Head Island, SC 29928

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

Recognizing the Estate as a legal entity that can be represented by counsel will not only eviscerate the protections afforded under § 109, but also the immunity provided by § 62-3-714, which protects persons who in good faith deal with a personal representative. Indeed, such a holding would in essence be rewriting the entire Probate Code. *Burns v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.*, 297 S.C. 520, 523, 377 S.E. 2d 569, 570 (1989) (courts have no power to legislate). Moreover, extension of *Fabian* in this manner would wreak havoc with counsel’s ethical duties to personal representatives, heirs, and statutory beneficiaries, as well as prospective heirs and statutory beneficiaries, of the estates at issue, and place impossible burdens on counsel to identify and track down any one who could have an interest in the funds to be recovered lest they be faced with a claim by someone who emerges after the litigation is concluded and the funds are dispersed, like Bell did here. *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 650, 675 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2009).

At trial, Bell attempted to “stand in the shoes” of Gilmore, as Successor Personal Representative, even though he argues that her appointment was invalid¹⁰, in order to

¹⁰ If Gilmore’s appointment was invalid, then so too is Bell’s as Successor Personal Representative. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-301(a)(6) provides that “an application for appointment of a personal representative to succeed a personal representative . . . shall adopt the statements in the application . . . which led to the appointment of the person being succeeded.”

establish standing to pursue his claim for legal malpractice against McGowan. (R. p. 592, lines 6-7, Trial Tr. 6:6-7, July 20, 2017.) However, while Bell may have the same powers and duties as Gilmore, he is not a party to her contract with McGowan, has no privity with McGowan, and therefore has no standing upon which to sue McGowan. *E.g., In re Ducane Gas Grills, Inc.*, 320 B.R. 312, 321 (D.S.C. 2004); *Estate of Cabatit v. Candors*, 105 A.3d 439, 443-445 n.6 (Me. 2014); *Betz v. Blatt*, 116 A.D.3d 813, 816, 984 N.Y.S.2d 378, 382 (N.Y. App. 2014). Indeed, to extend privity as advocated by Bell would give Bell the functional equivalent of an assignment of any legal malpractice claim that Gilmore may have against McGowan; but any such assignment, direct or indirect, is against the public policy of South Carolina. *E.g., Skipper v. ACE Prop. & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 413 S.C. 33, 36-37, 775 S.E.2d 37, 38-39 (2015).

In fact, should Bell step into the shoes of Gilmore, then his remedy against McGowan is limited to those remedies that Gilmore might have against McGowan. *See Walker v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co.*, 12 Va. Cir. 436, *2 (Va. Cir. 1974). Here, Bell settled with Strong and Gilmore for \$250,000, allocated equally between them, which means that Gilmore's remedy, if any, against McGowan is limited to \$125,000. (R. pp. 1103-1110, McGowan Trial Ex. 78.) This is the amount that Gilmore paid to resolve Bell's claims against her, as personal representative, for breach of fiduciary duty, and is the amount that she could pursue McGowan for had she chosen to do so. *Jensen v. Crandell*, 1997 WL 34981765, *4 (Me. Super. Mar. 4, 1997).

Even this remedy is lost to Bell, however, because Gilmore chose not to sue McGowan, and Bell ratified the underlying settlement so he has no claim against McGowan as a matter of law. (R. pp. 1085-1086, McGowan Trial Ex. 63.) *L.F.S. Corp. v.*

Kennedy, 287 S.C. 162, 163-164, 337 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1985) (acceptance of financial benefits and advantages of order are clear, unequivocal acts of ratification of order); *accord Lemons*, 2012 WL at *7-8, *citing Brazell Bros. Contractors v. Hill*, 245 S.C. 69, 74, 138 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1964) (“Ratification . . . is the adoption by one of a bargain struck by another under circumstances that he would not have been bound but for his subsequent assent”); *accord Southeastern Housing Found. v. Smith*, 2006 WL 6318130 (S.C. C.P. Richland Cnty. Nov. 20, 2006) (can ratify pending legal actions *nunc pro tunc*).

Bell’s remedy was against Gilmore. He could and did sue Gilmore as the personal representative of the Estate to recover for breach of fiduciary duty. Unlike Lindsay in *Fabian*, McGowan is not immunized from suit as his client, Gilmore, the personal representative of the Estate, could sue him for legal malpractice; an action Gilmore chose not to pursue even after she settled with Bell.

McGowan respectfully submits that the circuit court erred as a matter of law in holding that the Estate was a legal entity, has the capacity to contract, and could be designated in the Retainer Agreement as a separate entity capable of being represented by McGowan. The circuit court did, however, direct a verdict in favor of McGowan, which should be affirmed under § 62-1-109 and *Douglass*.

IV. Bell cannot invoke issue preclusion to vest the probate court with jurisdiction to rule on anything beyond the issue of standing.

Bell cannot use the Probate Order to prove or disprove any issue or claim in this matter. Once the probate court ruled on standing it divested itself of jurisdiction. Any rulings made in addition to standing were made without jurisdiction and are void and without legal effect. *See Thomas & Howard Co., Inc. v. T.W. Graham & Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995) (if a court acts without subject matter jurisdiction,

its judgments are void from inception and are a complete nullity, without any legal effect); *Ross v. Richland*, 270 S.C. 100, 101-102, 240 S.E.2d 649, 650 (1978) (“a court without jurisdiction only has authority to dismiss the action”).

Standing is a necessary component of subject matter jurisdiction. “Jurisdiction is composed of three elements: (1) personal jurisdiction; (2) subject matter jurisdiction; and (3) the court’s power to render the particular judgment requested.” *In re Estate of Hover*, 407 S.C. 194, 207, 754 S.E.2d 875, 882 (2014), citing *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 104, 744 S.E.2d 566, 572 (2013). Without standing, the probate court could not do anything other than dismiss McGowan’s Petition. *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 415-416, 498 S.E.2d 906, 906 (Ct. App. 1998) (the issue of standing is a component of subject matter jurisdiction that goes to determine justiciability); *Limehouse*, 404 S.C. at 104, 744 S.E.2d at 572 (absent jurisdiction a court cannot proceed at all other than to announce the lack of jurisdiction and dismiss the case).

Moreover, the law of the case doctrine is inapplicable. The “doctrine of the law of the case prohibits issues that have been decided in a prior appeal from being relitigated in the trial court *in the same case*. [*Emphasis added.*]” *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571-573, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403-404 (Ct. App. 2015), quoting *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 62, 492 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1997). Here, the Probate Order was rendered in a completely separate case, by a court that lacked jurisdiction, well after the underlying Wrongful Death Litigation had been concluded, and issued on Bell’s Motion to Dismiss McGowan’s Petition to Remove Bell as the Successor Personal Representative of the Estate. Bell cannot retroactively apply this decision, which his lawyers drafted, to McGowan’s handling of the Wrongful Death Litigation. Nor can Bell extend the probate

court's decision to the Malpractice Litigation in order to overcome his failure to prove his cases within his case, and thus, as the circuit court did, the Probate Order should be wholly disregarded by this Court.

V. **Bell cannot manufacture conflicts of interest where none exist in order to impose liability on McGowan.**

Bell's arguments as to conflicts of interest are a red herring that were properly rejected by the circuit court as they are based solely on Bell's speculation and belief that Strong's loss of consortium claim "would reduce the amount of money that would go into the Estate". (Bell Brief at 32.) Bell, however, has failed to present any evidence to prove that had he come forward earlier and challenged Strong's status as Davis common law husband, his challenge would have been successful as to change the outcome of the Wrongful Death Litigation. Bell also is incorrect that the settlement of the wrongful death claim would "go into the Estate." The damages in a wrongful death claim are distributed by the personal representative directly to the statutory beneficiaries. *Bennett v. Spartanburg*, 97 S.C. 27, 81 S.E. 189, 189-190 (1914); *accord Lester v. McFaddon*, 415 F.2d 1101, 1103-1104 (4th Cir. 1969); *Moss v. Shelly*, 287 S.C. 310, 311, 338 S.E.2d 327, 328 (1985).

Moreover, there was no conflict of interest up to the point of settlement, as evidenced by Bell's concession that the settlement was reasonable and his failure to prove that the settlement would have been any different had it been known earlier that he had been formally adopted by Davis. *E.g.*, *Bankers Trust of S.C. v. Bruce*, 283 S.C. 408, 421, 323 S.E.2d 523, 531 (1984) ("In order to recover for an attorney's alleged conflict of interest, the client bears the burden of proving the alleged conflict affected the result of the prosecution or defense of the action in question."); *Peppertree Resorts Ltd. v. Cabana Ltd.*

Partnership, 315 S.C. 36, 41-42, 431 S.E.2d 598, 601 (Ct. App. 1993) (consent is implied where there is a mutual interest in the success of the case). In fact, Bell's admission that the settlement was "reasonable" *ipso facto* destroys any allegations of conflict, as it confirms his acceptance of McGowan's strategy to present a united front to maximize recovery in the Wrongful Death Litigation. *In re Trexler*, 327 S.C. 315, 318, 491 S.E.2d 257, 259-260 (1997); *ITC Comm. Funding, LLC v. Crerar*, 393 S.C. 487, 492, 713 S.E.2d 335, 337-338 (Ct. App. 2011).

Nor is there any conflict of interest with respect to distribution of the settlement funds, for as soon as Bell emerged and made claim on the settlement, McGowan immediately recognized the potential conflict and referred Gilmore and Strong to separate counsel, who handled their defense and settlement of the Gilmore Litigation. (R. p. 412, lines 10-19, Trial Tr. 140:10-19, July 19, 2016.) *E.g.*, *Holmes v. McClendon*, 349 Ark. 162, 172-174, 76 S.W.3d 836, 842-844 (2002).

Lastly, other than Freeman's testimony as to a "potential" conflict of interest (R. p. 545, lines 9-12, Trial Tr. 273:9-12, July 19, 2016), Bell offers neither fact nor law to support his position that the advances made by Maloney to Strong "created an additional conflict of interest." (Bell Brief at 30-33.) Bell ignores the fact that each advance made by Maloney to Strong was memorialized by an "Acknowledgment and Agreement", duly executed by Strong that explained the amount advanced and the amount to be repaid; that McGowan advised against the advance; that McGowan did not receive any benefit in connection with the advances; that Strong was encouraged to seek the advice of separate counsel; and, was advised that if he did not recover in the Wrongful Death Litigation he would not have to repay the advances. Strong gave his informed consent to the potential

conflict of interest presented by the advances, and repaid Maloney out of the settlement funds he received from the Wrongful Death Litigation. (R. p. 545, lines 9-12, Trial Tr. 273: 9-12, July 19, 2016; R. p. 749, Bell Trial Ex. 20.) See *In re Swanner*, 408 S.C. 191, 195, 758 S.E.2d 711, 713 (2014).

The circuit court properly rejected Bell's attempts to manufacture non-existent conflicts of interest, its directed verdict should therefore be affirmed.

VI. Bell cannot invoke the equitable remedy of disgorgement to strip McGowan of his duly earned fee for the Wrongful Death Litigation.

The circuit court correctly rejected Bell's attempts to seek disgorgement of McGowan's fees, recognizing that even under a preponderance of the evidence standard there was no evidence that supported forfeiture. (R. p. 608, lines 20-25, Trial Tr. 22:20-23; R. p. 611, lines 17-19, Trial Tr. 25:17-19, July 20, 2016.) "It is repugnant to fundamental principles of equity . . . that [Bell] should reap where they have not sown, free from any legal duty to compensate those who made the reaping possible." *Petition of Crum*, 196 S.C. 528, 533, 14 S.E.2d 21, 24 (1941). Particularly since Bell has failed to pursue, and therefore waived any right to "claw back" distributions of the settlement proceeds pursuant to § 62-3-909, and has similarly failed to pursue, and therefore waived, review of McGowan's fees under § 62-3-721. As Bell admits, McGowan's fees were well within the standard of the profession, totally justified considering the complexity of and result in the Wrongful Death Litigation, and are not subject to disgorgement. (R. p. 563, lines 14-23, Trial Tr. 291:14-23, July 19, 2016.) *Belk v. Harris*, Civil Action No. 08-CP-43-0347 (Oct. 25, 2008) ("If mere receipt of attorney fees were sufficient to cause a lawyer to lose his immunity, the lawyer would never have immunity unless the services were rendered without a fee being charged.").

The out of state cases cited by Bell are all distinguishable and inapplicable as each case involved a blatant, known conflict of interest that was ignored by the lawyer, such as agreeing to directly represent clients with adverse interests, *Pessoni v. Rabkin*, 220 A.D.2d 732, 732, 633 N.Y.S.2d 338, 338 (1995), *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wash.2d 451, 460-461, 824 P.2d 1207, 1212 (1992), *In re Estate of McCool*, 131 N.H. 340, 351, 553 A.2d 761, 769 (1988), *Jeffrey v. Pounds*, 67 Cal.App.3d 6, 8-9, 136 Cal.Rptr. 373 (3rd Dist. 1977), *White v. Roundtree Transport, Inc.*, 386 So.2d 1287, 1299-1289 (Fla. App. 3rd Dist. 1980); and negotiating a settlement for a client with an adjustor that was also a part-time consultant for the attorney, *Rice v. Perl*, 32N.W.2d 407, 408-409 (Minn. 1982). Further, as the circuit court noted, there is no South Carolina authority applying the equitable remedy of disgorgement in the manner advocated by Bell.

At the very least, as a number of the cases cited by Bell recognize, McGowan is entitled to his fees based upon *quantum meruit*: the reasonable value of the services rendered. *E.g.*, *Peppertree Resorts, Ltd. v. Cabana Ltd. Partnership*, 315 S.C. 36, 43, 431 S.E. 2d 598, 602 (Ct. App. 1993); *accord Andrews v. Cent. Sur. Ins. Co.*, 295 F. Supp. 1223 (D.S.C. 1969). Bell cannot strip McGowan of his fee based on unsubstantiated “potential conflicts”. (R. p. 545, lines 9-12, Trial Tr. 273:9-12, July 19, 2016.) The circuit court correctly held that Bell was not entitled to disgorgement, especially as Bell takes no issue with McGowan’s services in obtaining the \$2,300,000 settlement in the Wrongful Death Litigation, and its ruling should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

In an appeal from a directed verdict ruling, the Court “will reverse only where there is no evidence to support the trial judge’s ruling, or where the ruling was controlled by an

error of law.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assoc., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 490-491, 649 S.E.2d 494, 497-498 (Ct. App. 2007). As it was not “reasonably conceivable to have a verdict for [Bell] under the facts as liberally construed in [his] favor”, McGowan respectfully submits that the circuit court’s directed verdict on Bell’s failure to prove the case within his case, conflicts of interest, and entitlement to disgorgement is correct; eliminated all possible damages Bell could seek to recover; ended the case in McGowan’s favor; and should be affirmed. Alternatively, directed verdict should have been granted based upon estoppel by silence and because the “Estate of Mrs. Davis” is not a legal entity that could contract away the strict privity rule of § 62-1-109 as to extend McGowan’s duties and obligations beyond Gilmore to Bell.

Additionally, other than in his Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts, Bell never addresses his claims for fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation, and not once in his Brief does he even refer to his claim for breach of contract with fraudulent intent. Bell has therefore abandoned these claims. *Jones v. Lott*, 379 S.C. 285, 289–291, 665 S.E.2d 642, 644–645 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900 (2010).

Lastly, throughout his Brief, Bell continues his campaign of vilifying and disparaging McGowan. As Bell’s vilification and disparagement do not bear on the merits of issues before the Court, McGowan has not responded in kind, and instead prefers to close on the merits by respectfully submitting, for the reasons set forth, that the directed verdict entered below should be affirmed.